

Department of Health and Human Services Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention 286 Water Street 11 State House Station Augusta, Maine 04333-0011 Tel: (207) 287-8016; Fax (207) 287-9058 TTY Users: Dial 711 (Maine Relay)

Maine Health Alert Network (HAN) System PUBLIC HEALTH ADVISORY

То:	Health Care Providers
From:	Dr. Isaac Benowitz, State Epidemiologist
Subject:	U.S. CDC: Outbreak of Suspected Fungal Meningitis in U.S. Patients who Underwent Surgical Procedures under Epidural Anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico
Date / Time:	Thursday, May 18, 2023, at 1:15PM
Pages:	3
Priority:	Normal
Message ID:	2023PHADV019

U.S. CDC: Outbreak of Suspected Fungal Meningitis in U.S. Patients who Underwent Surgical Procedures under Epidural Anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico

Summary

The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (U.S. CDC) is issuing this Health Alert Network Health Advisory about an outbreak of suspected fungal meningitis among U.S. patients hospitalized in Texas after undergoing cosmetic procedures under epidural anesthesia in the city of Matamoros, state of Tamaulipas, Mexico. It is currently unknown which organism(s) is causing the outbreak. A fungal etiology is suspected based on elevated cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of the fungal biomarker (1,3)-beta-D-glucan in at least one patient. As of May 12, 2023, five patients have been diagnosed with suspected fungal meningitis; all have been hospitalized, and one has died. All these patients received epidural anesthesia and underwent cosmetic procedures. Affected patients underwent procedures in at least two clinics in Matamoros, Mexico, including River Side Surgical Center and Clinica K-3. Other facilities might be identified through further investigation.

Healthcare providers and the public should be aware that patients who underwent medical or surgical procedures under epidural anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico, and who have developed signs or symptoms of possible meningitis (e.g., fever, headache, stiff neck, nausea, vomiting, photophobia, altered mental status) should promptly seek evaluation by a healthcare provider and convey that medical history.

Background

On May 8, 2023, U.S. CDC, the Texas Department of State Health Services, and the Cameron County Health Department were notified through the Emerging Infections Network of two female patients hospitalized in Texas with symptoms consistent with meningitis (e.g., headache, fever, photophobia, stiff neck) that began approximately 2–4 weeks after receiving cosmetic procedures under epidural anesthesia at River Side Surgical Center in the city of Matamoros, state of Tamaulipas, Mexico. Two additional female patients hospitalized in Texas developed suspected fungal meningitis 1–8 weeks after undergoing cosmetic procedures under epidural anesthesia at Clinica K-3 in Matamoros, Mexico. U.S. CDC, the Texas Department of State Health Services, and the Cameron County Health Department are investigating additional cases that may be associated with this outbreak.

Presenting symptoms included fever and new or worsening headache. Some patients initially had mild symptoms. **The causative organism(s) is currently unknown for this outbreak.** Multiple pathogens can cause healthcare-associated fungal meningitis, and infections may involve multiple pathogens at once.¹ Initial cultures of CSF and blood from the affected patients have been negative for fungi and other pathogens; however, CSF values were notable for significantly elevated white blood cell counts and, in one patient, elevated levels of (1,3)-beta-D-glucan, a biomarker for fungal infection.

Recommendations for Healthcare Providers

- For patients who underwent a medical or surgical procedure under epidural anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico, after January 1, 2023, and who have developed symptoms consistent with fungal meningitis (e.g., fever, headache, stiff neck, nausea/vomiting, photophobia, altered mental status), healthcare providers should perform brain imaging (i.e., computerized tomography [CT] or magnetic resonance imaging [MRI]) and a diagnostic lumbar puncture (LP) unless contraindicated (e.g., because of skin infection over the puncture site, brain mass causing increased intracranial pressure).
 - Because some patients with fungal meningitis may initially present with mild or non- specific symptoms, healthcare providers should have a low threshold for performing brain imaging and LP.
- Healthcare providers can consider ordering bacterial and fungal cultures of CSF fluid, as well as serum and CSF levels of (1,3)-beta-D-glucan.² Healthcare providers can consider ordering other diagnostic tests including serum and CSF *Aspergillus* galactomannan and fungal polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing.³
- If fungal meningitis is suspected, treatment should be initiated as soon as possible after obtaining CSF; treatment should not be withheld because of negative fungal culture or (1,3)-beta-D-glucan results. Consultation with an infectious disease specialist is recommended.
- Treatment should involve broad-spectrum antifungal medications that have adequate central nervous system penetration. Dual agent antifungal therapy can be considered and has been used in previous fungal meningitis outbreaks.
- Although vaccines are available to prevent certain types bacterial and viral meningitis, no vaccine is available to prevent fungal meningitis.⁴
- Healthcare providers should immediately report suspected fungal meningitis cases, including those possibly related to this outbreak, to their state or local health department. Contact information for jurisdictional healthcare-associated infection program coordinators is available <u>here</u>.
 - Public health officials who are concerned about potential cases of fungal meningitis associated with this outbreak should contact U.S. CDC's Mycotic Diseases Branch (<u>fungaloutbreaks@cdc.gov</u>) during regular business hours and U.S. CDC's Emergency Operations Center (<u>eocreport@cdc.gov</u>; 770-488-7100) outside of regular business hours for assistance with recommendations and testing.

Recommendations for Clinical Laboratories

- Fungal and bacterial cultures of CSF should be performed to identify the causative organism; clinical laboratories should be aware that cultures may be negative or take up to 14 days to become positive.
- At this time, no specific pathogen has been identified in this outbreak; however, one patient had very high levels of (1,3)-beta-D-glucan in CSF, which strongly suggests a fungal etiology.⁵ This test can be performed both in blood and CSF but is more sensitive in CSF for diagnosing meningitis.⁶
- The fungal biomarker (1,3)-beta-D-glucan can help in the diagnosis of fungal meningitis; however, this test has several limitations, including:
 - \circ the inability to identify the specific fungal species causing infection,
 - o cross-reactivity with certain bacteria and medications,
 - o false positivity due to specimen contamination, and
 - the inability to detect certain fungal pathogens.
- PCR testing of CSF for fungal species can be considered; this testing may not be available at most laboratories.
- Aspergillus galactomannan testing of serum and CSF can be considered.

Recommendations for the Public

Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention

2023PHADV019 – U.S. CDC: Outbreak of Suspected Fungal Meningitis in U.S. Patients who Underwent Surgical Procedures under Epidural Anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico

- Patients who had a medical or surgical procedure involving epidural anesthesia in Matamoros, Mexico, since January 2023, should monitor themselves for symptoms (e.g., fever, headache, stiff neck, nausea, vomiting, photophobia, altered mental status) and consider consulting a healthcare professional.
- If patients had a procedure in Matamoros, Mexico, that involved injection of an anesthetic agent into the area around the spinal column (i.e., epidural) since January 2023 and have developed these symptoms, patients should immediately go to a hospital emergency room and tell them about their procedure in Matamoros, Mexico and where they traveled.
- Cancel any elective procedure that involves an epidural injection in Matamoros, Mexico, until there is evidence that there is no longer a risk for infection at these clinics.
- Patients should be aware that unsafe injection practices can be a serious threat to their health.
- All medical and surgical procedures carry some risk, and complications can occur regardless of where treatment is received. If patients travel to another country for a procedure, they should not delay seeking medical care if they suspect any complication during travel or after returning home. Immediately obtaining medical care can lead to earlier diagnosis and treatment and a better outcome.
- Learn how to minimize risks if patients are considering traveling to another country for medical care.

For More Information

Information about meningitis:

- Meningitis
- Fungal Meningitis

Health information for travelers:

- <u>Mexico Traveler Health</u>
- Fungal Infections Following Surgical Procedures in Mexico Alert Level 2, Practice Enhanced Precautions - Travel Health Notices | Travelers' Health | CDC
- Medical Tourism CDC Yellow Book 2024 (clinicians)
- Traveling Abroad for Medical Care (travelers)

References:

- Smith RM, Schaefer MK, Kainer MA, et al. Fungal Infections Associated with Contaminated Methylprednisolone Injections. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(17):1598-1609. doi:<u>10.1056/NEJMoa1213978</u>
- Serological Assays for the Detection of Beta-Glucan Class II Special Controls Guidance Document for Industry and FDA Staff. U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Accessed 17 May 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/guidance-documents-medical-devices-and-radiation-emittingproducts/serological-assays-detection-beta-glucan-class-ii-special-controls-guidance-documentindustryand.
 </u>
- Klont RR, Mennink-Kersten MASH, Verweij PE. Utility of Aspergillus Antigen Detection in Specimens Other than Serum Specimens. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2004;39(10):1467-1474. doi:<u>10.1086/425317</u>
- 4. Meningitis Resources for Healthcare Professionals. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed 17 May 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/meningitis/clinical-resources.html</u>.
- Karageorgopoulos DE, Vouloumanou EK, Ntziora F, Michalopoulos A, Rafailidis PI, Falagas ME. -D-Glucan Assay for the Diagnosis of Invasive Fungal Infections: A Meta-analysis. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2011;52(6):750-770. doi:<u>10.1093/cid/ciq206</u>
- Lyons JL, Roos KL, Marr KA, et al. Cerebrospinal Fluid (1,3)-β- d -Glucan Detection as an Aid for Diagnosis of latrogenic Fungal Meningitis. J Clin Microbiol. 2013;51(4):1285-1287. doi:10.1128/JCM.00061-13